#### No. 76038

In the Nevada Supreme Court

Electronically Filed May 15 2019 03:26 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Gibran Richardo Figueroa-Beltran,

ardo I igacioa Beilian,

Appellant,

v.

United States of America

Respondent.

Certified Questions under NRAP 5 from the United States Court of Appeal for the Ninth Circuit

### **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Rene Valladares
Federal Public Defender,
District of Nevada
\*Cristen C. Thayer
Assistant Federal Public Defender
411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 388-6577
cristen\_thayer@fd.org

\*Counsel for Gibran Richardo Figueroa-Beltran Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 26.1 Disclosure

#### **Jurisdictional Statement**

This case originated in the United States Court of Appeal for the Ninth Circuit as a direct appeal from a federal criminal judgment of conviction in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada. After appellate briefing and oral argument, the Ninth Circuit certified three questions to this Court under Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 5 on June 8, 2018. Doc. #18-21957. This Court accepted the certified questions on July 18, 2018, and set a briefing schedule. Doc. #18-27455.

This Court stayed briefing to allow Appellant Gibran Richardo Figueroa-Beltran to litigate his Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court. Docs. ##18-31669, 18-37827, 19-00725, 19-07500. After the United States Supreme Court denied Figueroa-Beltran's certiorari petition, this Court re-set the briefing schedule. Doc. #19-16537. Figueroa-Beltran timely files this Opening Brief.

## Routing Statement

Under Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 17(a)(6), the Supreme Court shall hear this case because it involves certified questions from a federal court.

#### Statement of the Questions

The Ninth Circuit certified, and this Court accepted, the following questions:

- I. Is NRS 453.337 divisible as to the controlled substance requirement?
- II. Does the decision in *Luqman* conclude that the existence of a controlled substance is a "fact" rather than an "element" of NRS 453.337, rendering the statute indivisible? If so, can this conclusion be reconciled with *Muller*?
- III. Does the decision in *Muller* conclude that offenses under NRS 453.337 comprise "distinct offenses requiring separate and different proof," rendering the statute divisible as to the controlled substance requirement? If so, can this conclusion be reconciled with *Luqman*?

This Court also requested the parties:

IV. Address *Andrews v. State*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 12, 412 P.3d 37 (2018), which was decided after the parties briefed this matter in federal court.

#### Statement of the Case

This certified-question case concerns a federal criminal defendant who appealed the length of his prison sentence to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals but has now completed his prison term, been removed from the United States, and is serving his supervised release term. The Ninth Circuit certified questions to this Court relating to whether the federal district court properly used a prior Nevada drug conviction to calculate Appellant Figueroa-Beltran's advisory incarceration range under the federal Sentencing Guidelines.

#### I. Advisory Federal Sentencing Guidelines

Given the role the federal Sentencing Guidelines played in the district court's determination of Figueroa-Beltran's now-expired incarceration term, it is necessary to briefly address the evolution of the Guidelines to place their application in context.

For nearly two decades, federal district courts were required to impose criminal sentences under the federal Sentencing Guidelines, a determinate sentencing system the United States Sentencing Commission drafted and codified at Congress' direction. See generally Sentencing Reform Act of 1984 (SRA), as amended, 18 U.S.C. § 3551 et seq., 28 U.S.C. § 991 et seq. (establishing Sentencing Commission's

powers and duties). However, in *Booker v. Washington*, 543 U.S 220, 243-45 (2005), the Supreme Court found the SRA's mandatory nature violated the Sixth Amendment. As then written, the SRA required district courts to impose punishments under the Sentencing Guidelines greater than that authorized by facts found by a jury or admitted to by a defendant during the change of plea. *Id.* The Supreme Court resolved the constitutional infirmity by severing and excising the mandatory compliance provisions of the SRA. *Id.* at 245. These modifications rendered the Sentencing Guidelines "advisory, requiring a sentencing court to consider Guidelines ranges . . . but permit the court to tailor the sentence in light of other statutory concerns as well." *Id.* 

After *Booker*, federal district courts impose sentences using the factors in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), where the Guidelines are just "one factor among several courts must consider in determining an appropriate sentence." *Kimbrough v. United States*, 552 U.S. 85, 90 (2007). An overriding parsimony principle governs judicial consideration of the § 3553(a) factors and requires all sentences be "sufficient but not greater than necessary" to achieve the overarching sentencing purposes of "retribution, deterrence, incapacitation, and rehabilitation." *Tapia v.* 

United States, 564 U.S. 319, 325 (2011); 18 U.S.C. § 3551(a); 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2). The § 3553(a) factors to be considered are the:

- (1) nature and circumstances of the offense and the history and characteristics of the defendant—§ 3553(a)(1);
  - (2) kinds of sentences available—§ 3553(a)(3);
- (3) Sentencing Guidelines, advisory range, and Sentencing Commission policy statements—§ 3553(a)(4)-(5);
- (4) need to avoid unwarranted sentencing disparity among defendants with similar records found guilty of similar conduct—

  § 3553(a)(6); and
  - (5) need to provide restitution—§ 3553(a)(7).

Though the Guidelines are advisory and just one factor to be considered at sentencing, they "assist federal courts across the country in achieving uniformity and proportionality in sentencing." *Rosales-Mireles v. United States*, 138 S. Ct. 1897, 1908 (2018).

## II. Federal Sentencing Proceedings

Figueroa-Beltran was charged with and pled guilty to one count of illegally reentering the country. 8 U.S.C. § 1326. One issue Figueroa-Beltran challenged at sentencing was whether his 2012 conviction

under NRS 453.337 qualified as a "drug trafficking offense" under the then-existing federal Guidelines' definition applicable to his offense of conviction. See U.S.S.G. § 2L1.2 (2016) (defining "drug trafficking offense" as "an offense under federal, state, or local law that prohibits the manufacture, import, export, distribution, or dispensing of, or offer to sell a controlled substance (or a counterfeit substance) or the possession of a controlled substance (or a counterfeit substance) with intent to manufacture, import, export, distribute, or dispense").1

The district court held that Figueroa-Beltran's prior Nevada conviction categorically matched the federal definition at issue, used that conviction to calculate Figueroa-Beltran's advisory incarceration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In November 2016, the United States Sentencing Commission amended U.S.S.G. § 2L1.2 to remove the enhancement Figueroa-Beltran challenges in his federal appeal, and, by extension, the enhancement the Ninth Circuit has asked this Court to address. *Notice of submission to Congress of amendments to the sentencing guidelines effective November 1, 2016*, United States Sentencing Commission, 81 F. Reg. 27262, 27269-27274.

In fact, in its response to Figueroa-Beltran's Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court, the Solicitor General argued the Court should not review the Ninth Circuit's certification order because the version of § 2L1.2 applied here is no longer in effect. Figueroa-Beltran v. United States, 18-6747, Brief for the United States in Opposition, pp.17-18 (U.S. Feb. 28, 2019).

range, and imposed the low-end of the range. *United States v. Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d 997, 1001 (9th Cir. 2018).

#### III. Ninth Circuit Briefing and Argument

Figueroa-Beltran timely appealed to the Ninth Circuit. Figueroa-Beltran argued, *inter alia*, the district court erroneously calculated his advisory incarceration range by using the prior Nevada conviction under NRS 453.337 to enhance his base offense level. *Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d at 1001.

The parties agreed NRS 453.337 was broader than the federal drug trafficking definition because Nevada's schedules I and II criminalize more drugs than are listed in the federal Controlled Substances Act. *Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d at 1002-03. The only remaining question was whether NRS 453.337 was a "divisible statute" such that the identity of the controlled substance was an element of the offense or merely the means of violating the prohibited controlled substance possession acts. *Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d at 1003.

Figueroa-Beltran submitted that under *Sheriff v. Luqman*, 101 Nev. 149, 697 P.2d 107 (1985), the identity of the controlled substance possessed with the intent to sell could not be an element because an

executive agency, the pharmacy board, controlled Nevada's drug schedules and could only set forth "facts" or "conditions" guiding "the application or operation of a statute complete within itself." Figueroa-Beltran, 892 F.3d at 1003. The government believed, however, Muller v. Sheriff, 93 Nev. 686, 572 P.2d 1245 (1977), controlled because it held that, under Nevada's pre-1981 drug control regime when the Legislature set the drug schedules in the Revised Statutes, "the sale of each controlled substance requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not, viz., the particular . . . identity of the controlled substance sold." Figueroa-Beltran, 892 F.3d at 1003.

At oral argument, the Ninth Circuit panel asked the parties whether it should certify the divisibility question to this Court. Both Figueroa-Beltran and the government agreed certification was unnecessary for the panel to resolve this federal question. *United States v. Figueroa-Beltran*, 16-10388, Dkt. #39, 14:00-14:25, 21:40-23:42.<sup>2</sup>

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Available at https://www.ca9.uscourts.gov/media/view\_video.php?pk\_vid=0000012023.

#### IV. Ninth Circuit's Certification Order

The Ninth Circuit panel issued an order certifying three questions to this Court. *Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d 997. The certification order recognized the panel "cannot say with confidence that the Nevada precedent definitively answers the question whether NRS 453.337 is divisible as to the identity of a controlled substance" because of a perceived conflict in Nevada case law. *Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d at 1004. The order then asks this Court to decide whether NRS 453.337 is "divisible," whether *Luqman* or *Muller* are reconcilable, and, if not, which case controls. *Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d at 1004.

A month before the Ninth Circuit's certification order, Figueroa-Beltran completed the prison component of his sentence and was released from Bureau of Prisons' custody. Without notice to the Ninth Circuit or undersigned counsel, the government removed Figueroa-Beltran from the United States on June 1, 2018. Figueroa-Beltran is serving his three-year term of supervised release.

#### Summary of the Argument

The Ninth Circuit certified three questions to this Court concerning the federal divisibility analysis used for federal sentencing purposes when a state statute criminalizes more conduct than the federal definition. The statute at issue, NRS 453.337, prohibits the possession of substances in schedules I and II for the purpose of sale. Under federal divisibility analysis, NRS 453.337's controlled substances are not divisible because, after consulting the relevant Nevada sources of law, the Court cannot be "certain" the controlled substances are alternative elements of or, rather, various means of violating NRS 453.337.

The Ninth Circuit also asked whether this Court's *Luqman* or *Muller* decisions established whether the controlled substances listed in the Nevada Administrative Code by the pharmacy board are alternative elements or the various means of violating NRS 453.337. When addressing NRS 453.337 as it fits in Nevada's current drug-control framework, *Luqman* held the pharmacy board does not set forth elements and acts only as a fact-finder for facts or conditions guiding the application or operation of a statute complete within itself. As only

the Legislature may create crimes, the separation of powers doctrine precludes the pharmacy board from creating elements of an offense. *Muller*, in contrast, addressed the drug sale statute, NRS 453.321, in Nevada's old drug-control framework when the Legislature codified the drug schedules in statutes. Thus, *Muller* has no application here.

Finally, this Court requested the parties address Andrews, a recent panel decision on Nevada's drug trafficking statute. Andrews held that the simultaneous trafficking of different schedule I substances are separate offenses and thus the weight of those substances cannot be aggregated to elevate the defendant's mandatory minimum and maximum sentence. Andrews primarily reached this conclusion because statutes that cross-referenced the drug trafficking statute indicated the weight of a single substance set the punishment. NRS 453.337, however, does not have instructive cross-referencing statutes. Because Nevada sources of law do not resolve the unit of prosecution ambiguity, the rule of lenity counsels that NRS 453.337 be construed to make the simultaneous possession of multiple schedule I or II substances for purposes of sale a single offense.

#### Argument

The Ninth Circuit's certified questions ultimately ask this Court to apply the federal divisibility doctrine to assist it in determining whether Figueroa-Beltran's federal sentence was unreasonably enhanced for a prior NRS 453.337 conviction under the advisory Sentencing Guidelines. This federal issue is not a state question the Ninth Circuit should have asked this Court to resolve. The federal divisibility of a state statute for purposes of enhancement under the Guidelines is a purely federal question, and one the United States Supreme Court has provided federal courts the tools to resolve. This Court should decline to answer the Ninth Circuit's certified questions.

Moreover, though posited as three separate certified questions,
Supreme Court precedent is clear that all three questions are wholly
encompassed in the Ninth Circuit's first question: "Is Nev. Rev. Stat.

§ 453.337 divisible as to the controlled substance requirement?" As
explained below, the Supreme Court set forth a three-part test that
federal courts must apply to resolve divisibility, which address all of the
Ninth Circuit's questions as part of that single inquiry. Faithful
application of Supreme Court precedent requires the federal divisibility

inquiry in the first question to consider the second and third questions regarding this Court's decisions in *Luqman* and *Muller*, as well as this Court's request that the parties address the Court's panel decision in *Andrews*.

Further, the specific analysis the Supreme Court requires federal courts to use in resolving divisibility does not include stopping litigation and certifying questions to state courts. By doing so, the Ninth Circuit has violated Supreme Court precedent, extended this litigation to the point that Figueroa-Beltran completed his prison term, and potentially created precedent for additional intrusions into state court resources even though federal law already provides the necessary analysis. If the Ninth Circuit was uncertain after applying the divisibility analysis, it was required to find NRS 453.337 indivisible for federal purposes—not ask this Court to make divisibility findings through the certification process. The Ninth Circuit's decision to disregard Supreme Court authority here is unprecedented.

Nonetheless, in the event this Court deems it appropriate to answer the Ninth Circuit's questions, NRS 453.337 is not divisible. Figueroa-Beltran therefore responds by addressing each inquiry

separately as submitted by the Ninth Circuit, with cross-references to separate sections of his brief as appropriate.

#### I. Standard of Review

This Court reviews constitutional and statutory construction questions de novo. *Matter of Halverson*, 123 Nev. 493, 509, 169 P.3d 1161, 1172 (2007).

# II. NRS 453.337 is not a "divisible" criminal statute under the controlling federal analysis.

Resolution of the Ninth Circuit's first certified question—whether NRS 453.337 is "divisible as to the controlled substance requirement"—turns on the categorical approach the United States Supreme Court formalized for determining whether a federal sentencing enhancement can be used to increase a defendant's criminal punishment. *Figueroa-Beltran*, 892 F.3d at 1000 ("The issue for decision in this case is whether Nevada Revised Statute § 453.337, which criminalizes conduct related to certain controlled substances identified by reference to the Nevada Administrative Code, is divisible under federal law for the purpose of applying the federal sentencing guidelines.").

Application of the federal divisibility analysis reveals NRS 453.337 is indivisible as to the controlled substance requirement for federal sentencing purposes.

#### A. Divisibility and the Categorical Approach

There are several federal statutes and Sentencing Guidelines that increase a federal sentence if a certain number and type of prior convictions exist. The federal doctrine of "divisibility" derives from the categorical approach the Supreme Court first formalized in *Taylor v*. *United States*, 495 U.S. 575 (1990), for determining if a prior conviction qualifies as a federal sentencing enhancement. A problem arises when a prior conviction occurred under a statute that may be violated in multiple ways.

Taylor implemented an analysis called the "categorical approach" that "generally requires the trial court to look only to the fact of conviction and the statutory definition of the prior offense" to determine if it matches the elements of the federal generic crime to allow application of the federal sentencing enhancement. 495 U.S. at 602. The categorical approach prohibits courts from considering the facts of the prior offense and limits analysis to the language of the statute of

conviction. *Id.* at 600. Additionally, courts must always presume "the conviction 'rested upon [nothing] more than the least of th[e] acts' criminalized, before determining whether even those acts are encompassed by the generic federal offense." *Moncrieffe v. Holder*, 133 S. Ct. 1678, 1684 (2013).

Over the years, the Supreme Court has refined nuances of the categorical approach. Shepard v. United States addressed the defendant's conviction under a "divisible" statute—a statute that provided alternative elements, one set matching the federal generic offense and an alternative set that did not match the federal generic offense because it criminalized a broader range of conduct. 544 U.S. 13, 26 (2005). Shepard held that when dealing with a divisible statute, courts may consider the charging document, the plea agreement, plea colloquy transcript, or a comparable judicial record to determine the precise elements the defendant was convicted under. Id. These documents are called "Shepard documents," and the approach applied in Shepard is called the "modified categorical approach." See Johnson v. United States, 559 U.S. 133, 145 (2010).

In Descamps v. United States, the Supreme Court narrowed the applicability of the modified categorical approach, making clear it applies *only* if a defendant was convicted under a divisible statute. 570 U.S. 254, 263-64 (2013). The Court reaffirmed a statute is divisible when it "lists multiple, alternative elements, and so effectively creates 'several different . . . crimes." Id. at 264. Only when a divisible statute is at issue may courts review Shepard documents to assess whether the defendant was convicted of alternative elements that match the federal generic offense. *Id.* at 265. When a statute is not divisible courts may not look beyond the statute of conviction. Id. Rather, when an indivisible statute "is overbroad or missing elements of the generic crime," there is a "mismatch in elements, [and] "a person convicted under that statute is never convicted of the generic crime." *Id.* at 276. The predicate conviction does not qualify as a sentencing enhancement and the inquiry ends. *Id.* at 276-77.

Most recently, in *Mathis v. United States*, the Supreme Court reemphasized that the categorical approach focuses "solely on whether the elements of the crime of conviction sufficiently match the elements of [the federal generic crime], while ignoring the particular facts of the

case." 136 S. Ct. 2243, 2248 (2016). *Mathis* also made clear how federal courts are to ascertain the possible divisibility of alternatively worded state statutes, the very issue present here.

Mathis directed federal courts to review "authoritative sources of state law" to assess if the state statute sets out: (1) alternative elements defining multiple crimes, making it divisible; or (2) alternative means a defendant can be convicted of if the offense is indivisible. 136 S. Ct. at 2256. Step one of the Mathis analysis requires federal courts to first consider whether the state's case law definitively answers the divisibility question. Id. at 2256. ("When a ruling of that kind exists, a sentencing judge need only follow what it says.").

If state case law fails to "definitively answer[] the question," step two of the *Mathis* analysis requires federal courts to consider whether the statutory language itself definitively resolved the divisibility question. *Id.* (noting "[i]f statutory alternatives carry different punishments, then under [*Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000)] they must be elements").

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