No. 76038

CA No. 16-10388; DC No. 2:15-cr-00176-KJD-GWF

IN THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT Electronically Filed Jun 13 2019 01:38 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

GIBRAN RICHARDO FIGUEROA-BELTRAN,

Appellant

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Respondent,

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS UNDER NRAP 5 FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

NICHOLAS A. TRUTANICH United States Attorney

ELIZABETH O. WHITE Appellate Chief

NANCY M. OLSON Assistant United States Attorney District of Nevada 501 Las Vegas Blvd S., Suite 1100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 388-6336 Attorneys for the United States

Date submitted: June 13, 2019

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In reviewing a federal sentencing issue that turns on a question of Nevada law, the Ninth Circuit concluded that two Nevada Supreme Court opinions appear in conflict, thus leaving the court at a crossroads. To be able to proceed with the federal sentencing question before it, the Ninth Circuit certified to this Court a purely state-law issue—must the identity of the controlled substance alleged in a Nevada possession-for-sale charge under NRS 453.337 be proven to sustain a conviction (*i.e.*, is it an element)?

Continuing his pattern of avoiding the answer to this question at all costs—after the Ninth Circuit panel and en banc court, as well as the U.S. Supreme Court, have already declined to entertain Figueroa-Beltran's delay tactics—he now argues that this Court should change its mind and *refuse* to answer the certified state law issue before it because, Figueroa-Beltran claims, the case presents an issue of federal law only. As this Court is well aware from its review and acceptance of the issue presented, this case presents an issue of Nevada law that this Court is best suited to decide. Thus, the Court should disregard Figueroa-Beltran's anti-certification argument.

Turning to the merits of the state-law issue presented, this Court should clarify that, under Muller v. Sheriff, 572 P.2d 1245 (Nev. 1977), and Andrews v. State, 412 P.3d 37 (Nev. 2018), the identity of the controlled substance under NRS 453.337 is an element of the offense. Applying the same principles and modes of analysis the Court used in those cases, the Court should construe the word "any" to mean "a" controlled substance, and hold that each controlled substance possessed for sale gives rise to a separate offense, i.e., each offense is distinguished from the other by proving the separate identity of each controlled substance. As in *Andrews*, this conclusion is supported by Nevada USCA statutory cross-references to NRS 453.337, the statute's legislative history, and instructive case law from other jurisdictions. The conclusion is further supported by court records from other, completed NRS 453.337 cases involving multiple counts.

Figueroa-Beltran's arguments concerning *Sheriff v. Luqman*, 697 P.2d 107 (Nev. 1985), do not undermine this conclusion because *Luqman* was a case that considered the constitutionality of legislative delegation to an agency. In *Luqman*, the Court found no unconstitutional delegation; the Court did *not* say the identity of the controlled substance in NRS 453.337 is not an element. The case is inapposite to the question presented here.

Finally, that the parties are federal litigants appearing before this Court does not make this Court any less qualified to opine on a purely Nevada law issue. Clarifying the state of existing Nevada law will not present the concerns predicted by Figueroa-Beltran.

VII.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The government agrees with Figueroa-Beltran's standard of review, the Court reviews the issue presented in this case de novo.

B. This Court Should Resolve the Certified State-Law Issue Accepted from the Ninth Circuit.

Before addressing the merits of the question presented in this case,
Figueroa-Beltran attempts to relitigate an argument the Ninth Circuit and
Supreme Court have already declined to entertain: he claims that the Ninth
Circuit violated Supreme Court precedent by certifying this issue to the
Nevada Supreme Court. See Opening Brief at 10-11; see also United States v.
Figueroa-Beltran, No. 16-10388, Dkt. Entry 47 (Aug. 17, 2018 order denying
petition for panel and en banc rehearing, noting that no judge requested a vote
concerning en banc rehearing), Dkt Entry 52 (Supreme Court order denying
the petition for writ of certiorari before judgment). Whether the Ninth Circuit
misapplied the three-step Mathis framework, including the first step—

determining the elements of a state crime (*i.e.*, divisibility), as it relates to federal sentencing enhancements—is a question of federal law that the en banc Ninth Circuit and Supreme Court have thus far declined to reach. Notably, that question is not presented here.³

Rather, as it was applying *Mathis*, the Ninth Circuit paused its analysis to seek guidance from this Court. *See Mathis*, 136 S. Ct. at 2256 ("The first task for a [federal] court faced with an alternatively phrased statute is thus to determine whether its listed items are elements or means."). Specifically, having reviewed Nevada Supreme Court authority and perceiving an apparent conflict between two decisions, the Ninth Circuit has asked this Court to opine

This Court need not, as Figueroa-Beltran suggests, "pick up where the Ninth Circuit stopped," Opening Brief at 22, or apply the categorical, modified categorical, or any other federal-law-based approach in responding to this purely state-law question. Figueroa-Beltran's arguments that the Ninth Circuit did not properly apply steps two and three of the *Mathis* analysis are arguments for the en banc Ninth Circuit or the U.S. Supreme Court.

_

³ Figueroa-Beltran claims that, after completing the first step of the *Mathis* analysis applicable in federal court, the Ninth Circuit "certified the rest of the *Mathis* analysis to this Court." Opening Brief at 19; *see also* Opening Brief at 21 (claiming the Ninth Circuit certified "federal divisibility questions"), 22 (asserting the Ninth Circuit "delegate[d] the federal divisibility inquiry"). The Ninth Circuit did no such thing. This Court is well aware of the questions certified by the Ninth Circuit and accepted by this Court; in no way do any of those questions ask this Court to do the Ninth Circuit panel's job for it. The Ninth Circuit has asked for limited guidance on an issue of state law: is the identity of the controlled substance an element of the Nevada possession-for-sale offense?

on that conflict, and thereby provide guidance on whether the identity of the controlled substance alleged in a Nevada possession-for-sale case is an element of the offense—a question purely of state law.

In support of his anti-certification argument, Figueroa-Beltran points to a statement by the Assistant Solicitor General during the *Mathis* oral argument. *See* Opening Brief at 21. As the government attorney noted before the Supreme Court, if every single sentencing judge paused every single sentencing proceeding to seek assistance from state courts, this would cause concern about an intrusion on state court resources. But that is not the issue presented here. After reviewing two Nevada Supreme Court cases that the Ninth Circuit concluded stood in contrast with one another, given the frequency with which the issue of divisibility of Nevada drug statutes (whether drug type is an element of the offense) appears in federal court, the Ninth Circuit's narrow request does not fit the hypothetical "extraordinary intrusion" posited during the *Mathis* argument.⁴

Despite his anti-certification argument, Figueroa-Beltran recognizes that this Court "has the discretion to answer certified questions" such as this.

_

⁴ The Supreme Court in *Mathis* predicted that the "threshold inquiry—elements or means?— . . . will be [easy] in many" cases, because usually "a state court decision definitively answers the question." 136 S. Ct. at 2256. But *Mathis* did not envision a situation where two state court decisions appeared in conflict as the Ninth Circuit found here, further illuminating why certification is proper.

Opening Brief at 21. And although this Court likewise has the discretion to decline such certified questions, because the issue presented fits comfortably within this Court's certification factors, and based on the limited nature of the inquiry, the Court's decision to accept the certified questions was an eminently reasonable exercise of that discretion.

In sum, the Ninth Circuit has asked this Court to clarify whether the identity of the controlled substance is an element of the Nevada possession-forsale offense that must be proven to sustain a conviction. As this Court recognized, the relevant factors—whether the Court's answer will be determinative to an issue in the federal case, existence of controlling Nevada authority, and assistance in settling an important question of law—"are met with respect to the [the Ninth Circuit's] questions." Doc. #18-27455 at 1-2. Thus, as it has already agreed to do, the Court should proceed to advise the Ninth Circuit whether the type of controlled substance in NRS 453.337 is an element.

C. Relevant Sources of Nevada Law Demonstrate That the Identity of the Controlled Substance in a Nevada Possession-for-Sale Charge is an Element of the Offense.

This Court is in the best position to opine, and then advise the Ninth Circuit, on whether the identity of the controlled substance underlying a Nevada possession-for-sale charge is an element of the offense under NRS 453.337. In this section, the government addresses several Nevada sources (case law, statutory authority, and charging practices) to help guide the Court's analysis to conclude that it is an element.

1. Existing Nevada case law suggests that the identity of the controlled substance charged is an element of the offense.

Because the Ninth Circuit framed its certified-question inquiry around what it perceived as an apparent conflict between this Court's decisions in *Luqman* and *Muller*, the government begins by analyzing these cases in the context of the question presented. Per this Court's certification order, it also addresses *Andrews* in this section.

a. Muller v. Sheriff

In 1977, this Court decided *Muller v. Sheriff*, 572 P.2d 1245 (Nev. 1977), the first decision relevant to whether drug type is an element of the offense that must be proven to sustain a conviction. In *Muller*, this Court explained that a single drug transaction involving the sale of two different controlled substances (heroin and cocaine) constituted two separate offenses because two controlled

substances were involved. *Id.* The Court noted that "[t]he sale of heroin and the sale of cocaine are distinct offenses requiring separate and different proof." *Id.* This is so, the court explained, because "the sale of each controlled substance requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not, *viz.*, *the particular . . . identity of the controlled substance sold." Id.* (emphasis added, ellipses in original).

Muller did not reach this conclusion because the two substances involved in the transaction (heroin and cocaine) were on different statutory schedules or because the case involved the drug sales statute (as opposed to possession, possession-with-intent, trafficking, etc.). To the contrary, its holding was broad and relied on authority analyzing substances on the same schedule, in the same statute, and under a variety of different drug-prohibition theories (possession, possession-with-intent, and sales). See, e.g., id. at 1245 (citing People v. Lopez, 337 P.2d 570 (Cal. App. 1959) (sustaining three separate counts for possession of heroin, marijuana, and amidone because "each constitute[s] a single offense because each relate[s] to a different type of narcotic"); State v. Adams, 364 A.2d 1237, 1240 (Del. Super. 1976) (sustaining separate counts under possessionwith-intent statute because the statute comprises "separate crime[s] with respect to each forbidden substance").

Indeed, while one of the out-of-state decisions on which *Muller* relied could be interpreted as basing its separate-offenses conclusion on the fact that the two substances appeared on different statutory schedules, *Muller* clearly and deliberately rejected that approach. In *State v. Campbell*, the Supreme Court of Tennessee found two distinct offenses were committed by the sale of two substances, and suggested that the necessary and distinct proof separating the two offenses was the drug schedule. *State v. Campbell*, 549 S.W.2d 952, 955 (Tenn. 1977). In reaching its conclusion that each type of drug is a separate element, *Muller* quoted this language from *Campbell*, but notably *omitted* the word "schedule."

Compare:

Campbell, 549 S.W.2d at 955	with	Muller, 572 P.2d at 1245
[W]e hold that two distinct		"[T]wo distinct offenses were
offenses were committed since the		(probably) committed since the
sale of each controlled substance		sale of each controlled substance
requires proof of an additional		requires proof of an additional
fact which the other does not, viz.,		fact which the other does not, viz.,
the particular "schedule" identity		the particular identity of the
of the controlled substance sold		controlled substance sold"
(internal quotation marks		(quoting Campbell, 549 S.W.2d at
omitted).		955) (ellipses in <i>Muller</i>).

Muller's deliberate omission of the word "schedule" demonstrates that this Court eschewed a rule that defines separate controlled substance offenses as only those involving substances appearing on different statutory schedules.

Instead, the distinct proof required in *Muller* is the "identity of the controlled substance sold." 572 P.2d at 1245.

Muller's broad holding suggests that Nevada drug laws are meant to curb drug activities with respect to each forbidden substance, no matter the theory charged. Indeed, Figueroa-Beltran's suggestions that the type of controlled substance is an element under the sales statute (under *Muller*) and the trafficking statute (under *Andrews*), but not the possession-for-sale statute, is contrary to *Muller*'s holding that two substances should be charged and punished separately.⁵

Figueroa-Beltran argues that *Muller* can only be "instructive" as to cases involving "Nevada's pre-1981 drug control regime." Opening Brief at 41. But, as discussed below in connection with *Luqman*, there was no "overhaul" that undermined *Muller* as Figueroa-Beltran claims. *See* Opening Brief at 39.

b. Sheriff v. Luqman

This Court's decision in *Sheriff v. Luqman*, 697 P.2d 107 (Nev. 1985), can be reconciled with its decision in *Muller* because the cases presented entirely different questions. Rather than asking whether the type of controlled substance constitutes an element and therefore a separate crime, as *Muller* did, *Luqman* addressed whether moving the drug schedules from the Revised

⁵ Andrews is discussed fully below.

Statutes to the Administrative Code was an improper delegation because "scheduling [the] drugs determines the penalties." *Id.* at 110.

The question in *Luqman* was whether an amendment to the statute "unconstitutionally delegate[d] to the state board of pharmacy the legislative power to define the elements of a crime," *Id.* at 109, and the answer was "no." While Figueroa-Beltran would like the Court to interpret that answer as "no, they are not elements," the analysis in the decision makes clear the answer was "no, this was not an unconstitutional delegation." The Court concluded no improper delegation occurred "since the *penalties* for violating [the act] have been established by legislature." *Id.* at 110–11 (emphasis added).

Nevada's state scheme is analogous to the federal scheme. Congress enacts the statutes and sets out the schedules and penalties, and then it defers to the subject-matter experts (in the federal system, the DEA) to decide which substances belong in which schedules. *See Touby v. United States*, 500 U.S. 160, 162, 164 (1991) (the federal Controlled Substances Act authorizes the Attorney General to schedule substances, and in turn, the Attorney General has delegated scheduling to the DEA).

Demonstrating how similar Nevada's system is to the federal scheduling system, the Legislature has instructed the Pharmacy Board to designate, reschedule, or delete any controlled substance consistent with any changes in

federal law. NRS 453.2182. Just as *Luqman* concluded regarding the analogous Nevada system, the federal system is clearly constitutional and, as in the federal system, the particular substance is clearly an element of the offense.

Both systems respect the separation of powers interpreted in the U.S.

Constitution and stated in the Nevada Constitution.

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